#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 94,865

JEFFREY LEE ATWATER,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT PINELLAS COUNTY, FLORIDA

AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MARK S. GRUBER
ASSISTANT CCRC
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0330541
CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL
COUNSEL - MIDDLE
3801 CORPOREX PARK DRIVE
SUITE 210
TAMPA, FL 33619-1136
(813) 740-3544

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT ABOUT REFERENCES

Smith v. State, 539 So.2d 514 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989)
<u>Songer v. State</u> , 544 So.2d 1010, 1011-12 (Fla.1989)
<u>State v. Crews</u> , 477 So.2d 984, 984-985 (Fla. 1985)
<u>State v. DiGuilio</u> , 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986)
<u>State v. Dixon</u> , 283 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1973)
<u>Strickland v. Washington</u> , 104 S. Ct. 2052, 2065 (1984)
<u>Stringer v. Black</u> , 112 S. Ct. 1130 (1992) 67, 77, 83
<u>Taylor v. State</u> , 640 So.2d 1127 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994)
<u>United States v. Eyster</u> , 948 F.2d 1196 (11th Cir. 1991)
<u>Valle v. State</u> , 502 So.2d 1225, 1226 (Fla.1987)
<u>Valle v. State</u> , 705 So.2d 1331 (Fla. 1997)
<pre>Wiley v. Sowders, 647 F.2d 642 (6th Cir.), cert. denied, 454 U.S. 1091, 102 S.Ct. 656, 70 L.Ed.2d 630 (1981)</pre>
<u>Zant v. Stephens</u> , 462 U.S. 862 (1983)

#### CASE AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Mr. Atwater was indicted by the grand jury in Pinellas County, Florida, on September 7, 1989 (Dir. 4-5). He was charged with first-degree murder in count I and armed robbery in count II. Jury trial commenced May 1, 1990. A summary of the facts adduced by the State was set out in this Court's opinion on direct appeal. Atwater v. State, 626 So.2d 1325 (Fla. 1993). Briefly, the defendant was convicted of murdering the 64-year-old fiancee of his aunt by stabbing him repeatedly. At the close of the four day trial, the jury found Mr. Atwater guilty of all counts. (Dir. 560-561). The penalty phase took place on May 16 and 17, 1990, and the jury rendered an advisory verdict of death. (Dir. 675). After hearing argument on June 15, 1990, the court sentenced Mr. Atwater on June 25, 1990, to death on count I and ten (10) years on count II, sentences to run concurrent (Dir. 716-718). The trial court entered written findings (Dir. 707-715).

A timely direct appeal was filed and this Court affirmed Atwater's convictions and sentences. Atwater 626 So.2d 1325 (Fla. 1993). The United States Supreme Court denied certiorari on April 18, 1994. Atwater v. State, 114 S. Ct. 1578 (1994). Because Mr. Atwater's conviction and sentence became final after January 1, 1994, Mr. Atwater was required to file his motion for postconviction relief within one (1) year pursuant to the newly-enacted Rule 3.851. This Court granted Mr. Atwater an extension of

time in which to file his postconviction motion. (Atwater v. State, No. 76,327, Order August 15, 1995). An Amended 3.850 motion was timely filed on October 13, 1995. The lower court's eventual denial of that motion is the subject of this appeal.

The motion for postconviction relief raised twenty four claims for relief. The lower court conducted a Huff hearing<sup>1</sup> on May 15, 1998. By order dated June 29, 1998, the lower court summarily denied all claims except (amended) Claim VI and Claim XVII. (R. 226 to 242). After an evidentiary hearing on these two claims conducted September 11, 1998, the lower court denied them as well. (R. 364 to 367, order dated January 5, 1999).

Claims V, VIII, XI, XIII, XIV, XV, XVI, XVII, XVIII, XIX, XXI challenged the imposition of the death penalty in this case. Claim I was a discovery issue. Claim II addressed record omissions. Claims III, IV, VI, VII, IX. X, XII, XXIII, XXIII, and XXIV raised guilt phase issues. Cumulative error was alleged in Claim XX. In short, the trial court granted an evidentiary hearing on a few guilt phase issues and denied an evidentiary hearing on any penalty phase issues.

The allegations contained in collateral counsel's challenge to the death penalty are detailed in the argument portion of this brief. In particular, Claim XI challenged trial counsel's failure to investigate, prepare and present mitigation in the penalty

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Huff v. State, 622 So.2d 982 (Fla. 1993).

phase. The record on direct appeal is cited extensively in Argument II of this brief on this issue. The lower court denied the request for an evidentiary hearing on this point, noting that collateral counsel had not pled the names of witnesses who would have been called to testify and finding that the background mitigation described in the motion to vacate would have been cumulative to the testimony of the psychologist who testified for the defense at trial:

The Court has reviewed the record and agrees with the State's contention that defense mitigation witness Dr. Merin, a psychologist, testified to essentially the same information early life defendant's and situation as outlined in defendant's claim. Defense counsel also presented testimony from Dr. Merin and from three witnesses regarding defendant's alcohol use. The State points out that the defendant does not suggest what other witnesses should have been called by the defense counsel to testify to mitigation. The Court adopts the State's response as to this claim, and finds that defendant does not meet the performance component of Strickland v. Washington 466 U. S. 668 (1984). Therefore, this ground has no merit.

(R. 234). Argument II in this brief points out inter alia that the background information provided to the jury at trial through the psychologist was never presented as being true, that the psychologist changed his testimony between his deposition and the penalty phase, that the record does not reflect any but the most minimal background investigation, and that ultimately the defense presentation in the penalty phase did Atwater more harm than good.

It is only noted here that the record in these proceedings does not contain any new evidence about defense counsels' acts and omissions with regard to the penalty phase because the lower court did not grant an evidentiary hearing on this issue.

Claim VI as originally pled addressed trial counsel's concession that Atwater was guilty of second degree murder. At the Huff hearing, collateral counsel also argued that defense counsel had prevented Atwater from testifying in his own defense. With the permission of the court, Claim VI was subsequently amended to include this additional argument. (R.214 to 218). Claim XVII was a broad allegation of ineffective assistance at the guilt phase which addressed defense counsel's concession of guilt, failure to support the argument that the defendant was guilty of only second degree murder with adequate investigation, preparation, presentation, counsel's failure to secure expert testimony supporting this theory, and failure to communicate with Atwater about any of these issues. The lower court took the view that all of these allegations were interrelated, and that they could, in fact, have been raised in one claim. (R. 428). As the lower court characterized it at the beginning of the evidentiary hearing, "Essentially, we're dealing with claims of ineffective assistance in the quilt phase of the trial because of the Defendant's attorney conceding his guilt to the lesser crime and some charges that arise out of that." Id.

Actually, the characterization of defense counsel's actions as a "concession" understates the event. The defense lawyer who delivered the closing argument on behalf of Mr. Atwater actively urged a verdict of second degree murder instead of merely attacking the element of premeditation. In the postconviction evidentiary hearing he admitted displaying the gruesome crime scene photographs at the point in his closing argument where, in his paraphrase, he told the jury, "if this isn't an act of doing evil, malice, what is?" (R. 489). The record on direct appeal also shows that he argued against manslaughter because, he insisted, the evidence supported a more serious crime. (Dir. 1461).

Atwater's trial defense lawyers were John Thor White and Michael Schwartzberg. They testified at the evidentiary hearing. Mr. White generally conceded that he had felt the evidence of guilt was strong, that he expected the case to go to a penalty phase, and that a "pitch" was made to the jury for second degree murder in an effort to avoid the death penalty. (R. 439 to 447, 455).

Mr. White said that he agreed with the general principle that the defendant, not the lawyer, has the final say on whether to testify or whether to concede guilt. (R. 448). Mr. White said that he did not remember Atwater ever conceding guilt to him. (R. 447). He also said that Atwater had never expressed a desire to testify in the case to him personally. Id. When asked about the extent of his discussions with Mr. Atwater about these issues, the following exchange took place:

- Q. Do you recall any discussions that you had with Mr. Atwater about the decision to concede guilt during the closing statement?
  - A. I do not.
- Q. Do you recall having any discussions with Mr. Atwater about his right to testify on his own behalf?
  - A. I do not.
- Q. Do you recall at any time explaining to Mr. Atwater your role in the case?
  - A. I do not.
- Q. Do you recall at any time explaining to Mr. Atwater his legal rights at trial?
  - A. I do not.
- Q. Do you recall making a statement or that Mr. Atwater made a statement to the detective in the case, as well as Dr. Sidney Merin, that he had found the body in this case; that he was not guilty and had found the body in this case?
- A. I do not recall that, but it's sort of ringing a bell now that you're saying it...
- (R. 448 449). On cross examination, Mr. White explained that Mr. Schwartzberg had the primary responsibility to confer with Mr. Atwater, and that some communication about these issues may have occurred between them without his knowing about it:
  - A. ...Can I just clarify my response to that? It may be helpful to understand that during this trial, my best recollection is that when we divided up responsibilities, Cocunsel Schwartzberg was the his responsibility was to interact with Mr. Atwater and sort of leave me alone so I could strategize and keep an eye on things, and so on and so forth.

So all I'm trying to say is during the course of the trial, my direct conversations to Mr. Atwater, to my recollection, were minimal. So that's that.

- Q. So within the contact that you did have, he never did express any complaint about the way the case was going?
- A. No. I guess I'm trying to say maybe something went on between him and Schwartzberg.
- Q. As far as you and him, it did not happen?
- A. Exactly. That's what I'm trying to get to.
- Q. Do you have any knowledge that anything would have happened between him and Mr. Schwartzberg, for that matter?
  - A. I have no knowledge of that.

(R. 456, 457). Mr. White did recall a recess after the close of the state's case where he may have had a discussion with his client about whether to testify, but he did not remember anything more about it than that it happened. (R. 468, 469). The record does not contain any colloquy about the defendant testifying.

Mr. Schwartzberg said that his normal practice would have been to discuss these issues with his client, but he also said that he did not recall if such discussions took place specifically in this case:

A. ... I can tell you that my standard practice now - and, granted, I've done more than two [capital cases] - is I don't, first of all, make an evaluation until after I've completed taking all the discovery.

At which point in time, I tell my client, this is what I believe the State has, this is what I believe your risks are, this is what I believe we may be able to do. And the decision lies in their hands.

- Q. Do you recall that the client wished to testify in this case, or whether or not he wished to testify in the case?
  - A. I do not recall.
- Q. Do you recall ever having a discussion about him testifying in the case?
- A. Do I have an independent recollection? Again, the answer to that is no, I do not recall having a discussion with Jeff about that. But at the time that we would have either put testimony on, rested or done whatever, we would have had a discussion about that.

(R. 476, 477).

\* \* \*

- Q. Do you recall at trial the portion where the State rested and there was a short recess to discuss whether or not the defense would rest or be calling any witnesses? Do you recall what transpired during that recess?
- A. The answer is I do not have an independent recollection.
- (R. 478). Defense counsel did not remember much. On the other hand, he did recall that Atwater had denied guilt, but that he had nevertheless argued that Atwater was guilty of second degree murder to the jury. During the evidentiary hearing, Schwartzberg was confronted with portions of the transcript of his closing argument showing that he had unequivocally and somewhat graphically conceded Atwater's guilt in his closing argument. (R. 488). Instead of

contending that he and Atwater had discussed strategically admitting guilt to second degree murder he suggested that the concession of guilt at trial was only made as an argument in the alternative:

- Q. What was Mr. Atwater's desire in this case? What were his wishes; do you recall?
- A. The answer to that question is I believe originally Jeff told us that he did not kill Kenny Smith. And again, it's off the top of my head. And I recall because there were some that we performed concerning some statements that he made to us about potential alibis or places that he was at the time the crime was committed that we followed up on. So, I mean, that's the best that I can recall.
- Q. If the client stated that he was not guilty, then why would you concede guilt in the closing argument?
- A. Well, I think that sometimes we argue in the alternative, which may not be the best way in the world to argue that a client is not guilty; however, if you believe that the evidence discloses has proven beyond a reasonable doubt that the client is guilty, then the only thing that he is guilty of is X or Y.

(R. 487, 488).

\* \* \*

...I think what you're reading from is my rebuttal argument.

Because after every argument was made, including the argument of the state attorney at that point in time, I believed that we argued what was in our client's best interests, knowing what we had coming up with Dr. Merin.

And I may well at that point - I know that I stood there with the photographs in

front of the jury, saying, if this isn't an act doing evil, malice, what is? And by definition, that's second-degree murder. But that was my rebuttal argument.

(488, 489). The record on direct appeal does not bear out the implication that defense counsel did argue Mr. Atwater's position in his first argument, and then responded to the state's argument by shifting to an alternate theory of second degree murder. Rather, the record reflects that Mr. Schwartzberg addressed only the theory of felony murder during the first portion of his closing argument, without any reference to the premeditated murder charge other than to say that he would address it after the state had its say. (Dir. 1425). The prosecutor commented on Mr. Schwarzberg's failure to address premeditated murder in his first closing argument, and in that context told the jury that any contention that Atwater had not been present would be "ludicrous" under the circumstances. (Dir. 1445, 1452). Mr. Schwarzberg then devoted the second portion of his closing argument to the lesser included offense theory of defense. (Dir 1458 et seq.). Thus, Schwartzberg, whether intentionally or not, misrepresented his conduct at trial when he testified at the evidentiary hearing, and Mr. Atwater's position as stated to his to his lawyers, that he did not commit the murder, was not presented to the jury.

Mr. Atwater testified at the evidentiary hearing. (R. 507 to 532). He said that he was twenty five years old at the time of his trial, had a tenth grade education, and that he had not been

through a trial prior to this one; that his prior experience before a court had been limited to plea negotiations and entering pleas. (R. 507, 508). He said that his attorneys had told him that they did not want him to testify, that they did not explain his options and rights with regard to testifying, and that he did not know that he had the right to overrule their decision on the matter. (R. 508 to 511). In fact, he said that he thought if he had stood up in the courtroom and protested the way his attorneys were handling the case he would have been held in contempt. (R. 515). Moreover, he said that he had told Mr. Schwartzberg before the trial that he wanted to testify, and that if he had been permitted to testify, he would have told the jury that he was not guilty. (R. 510). also said that there had never been a discussion between him and his attorneys about conceding guilt at any level, but that if there had been a discussion he would have told them "point blank, no." (R. 513). The lower court found that counsel's concession of quilt was a legitimate trial strategy even without the defendant's knowledge or consent, expressly relying on McNeal v. Washington, 722 F.2d 674 (11th Cir. 1984); McNeal v. State, 409 So.2d 528 (Fla 5<sup>th</sup> DCA), rev. den., 413 So.2d 876 (Fla. 1982). (R.366, 367).

With regard to the issue of the defendant's not testifying, the lower court's order denying postconviction relief contains these findings of fact:

The Court finds that the testimony of the defendant's two attorneys shows that neither attorney had an independent recollection of

informing the defendant that he could override their advice and testify in his own behalf. The attorneys described the defendant as acquiescing to their advice to testifying. No waiver of the right to testify was made on the record by the defendant, and there is no record of the Court conducting an inquiry regarding such a waiver. defendant did admit that he knew he had the right to testify, but stated that he did not could overrule his he attorneys' decisions and testify on his own behalf.

(R. 366). The lower court nevertheless found that insufficient prejudice had been shown to meet the second prong of <u>Strickland</u> and that it was therefore unnecessary to address any deficiencies in representation. Id.

A timely notice of appeal was filed on January 21, 1999.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In Argument I, Atwater challenges his trial counsel's concession of guilt and failure to allow him to testify in his iwn defense. The lower court granted an evidentiary hearing on this and related sub issues and then denied relief based on McNeal v. Wainwright, 722 F.2d 674 (11th Cir. 1984). In fact, the characterization of counsel's acts as a "concession of guilt" understates what actually happened. Trial counsel actively argued in favor of a second degree murder conviction rather than merely attack the element of premeditation. It was precisely this distinction that was recognized by the McNeal court, and McNeal in fact requires that the lower court's denial of relief be reversed.

Argument II addresses ineffective representation at the

penalty phase. The lower court denied an evidentiary hearing on this issue, either because the facts pled below were cumulative or did not meet the second prong of Strickland. An examination of the record shows that the facts presented in mitigation at the penalty phase were not presented as being true, and that the additional mitigation pled by collateral counsel therefore could not have been cumulative to anything because there was nothing for it to be Moreover, virtually every aspect of defense cumulative to. investigation, preparation and presentation in the penalty phase is rife with deficiencies, and the overall result was that the counsel's presentation to the jury did more harm than good. evidentiary hearing on this issue should have been granted because the prejudice was manifest - e.g. the testimony of the defense star expert witness was a principle part of the prosecutor's closing argument - the reasons for counsel's acts and omissions cannot be determined by reference to the record, and therefore the allegations of the motion to vacate cannot be conclusively refuted on their face or by the record.

The remaining arguments presented herein address record omissions, prosecutorial elicitation of false and misleading evidence and unqualified opinion testimony, improper jury instructions in the penalty phase, an undisclosed deal with a state witness, the trial court's failure to find mitigation existing in the record, Mr. Atwater's absence during critical stages of the proceedings, failure of proof, erroneous guilt phase instructions,

improper argument and voir dire, improper aggravation, constitutionality of the death penalty statute, inadequate pre trial preparation by the defense, the cumulative effect of these errors, improper introduction of gruesome photographs, actual innocence, and failure to discover and present impeaching evidence. These claims were summarily denied, but an evidentiary hearing should have been granted because they cannot be conclusively refuted by references to the record and the court file in this case.

#### ARGUMENT I

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