IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JEFFREY LEE ATWATER,

Appellant,

vs. CASE NO. SC94865

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CANDANCE M. SABELLA

Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0445071
Westwood center
2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Tampa, Florida 33607-2366
(813) 873-4739

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

The State responds that mental illness, drugs and child abuse were not major issues in defendant's case, but were explored by defense witness Dr. Merin in the penalty phase, based on what the defendant had told Dr. Merin about his childhood and his substance abuse. The State adds that the prospective jurors were extensively questioned about their views of capital punishment. Defendant does not show that counsel's alleged omissions on voir dire would have changed the outcome or that counsel's voir dire was a substantial and serious deficiency reasonably below that of competent counsel.

The Court has reviewed the record, and

agrees with the State that mental illness, drugs and child abuse were not major issues in this case. The Court finds that this claim has no merit, and defendant's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel also has no merit.

As the trial court found, mental illness, drugs and child abuse were not major issues in this case. The record shows that they were only brought up by defense witness Dr. Merin in the penalty phase based on what the Atwater had told the doctor about his childhood development and substance abuse. In light of Dr. Merin's conclusions, the record does not support that these were major issues even in the penalty phase.

Between the prosecutor's and defense counsel's questioning, the prospective jurors were extensively questioned about their views of capital punishment. The majority of the defense voir dire was about the jurors' views of capital punishment. Atwater has not shown that counsel's omissions on voir dire would have changed the outcome or that it was "a substantial and serious deficiency reasonably below that of competent counsel." Smith v. State, 445 So.2d 323, 325 (Fla. 1983); Johnston v. Dugger, 583 So.2d 657, 662 (Fla. 1991).

ISSUE XIV

WHETHER ATWATER'S SENTENCE RESTS UPON UNCONSTITUTIONALLY AUTOMATIC AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES, IN VIOLATION OF THE SIXTH, EIGHTH, AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.

This claim is based on Atwater's allegation that instructions given in the penalty phase are unconstitutionally automatic aggravating factors: (1) that the murder was committed while engaged in the commission or attempt to commit a robbery, and (2) that the murder was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner. Both instructions were raised as error on direct appeal and rejected by the Florida Supreme Court. Case law relied on by Atwater in this claim predates the mandate and could have been raised on the appeal. As issues available for appeal, they are not issues for postconviction relief. Lopez v. Singletary, 634 So. 2d 1054, 1056 (Fla. 1993); Bolender v. State, 658 So.2d 82 (Fla. 1995); Jennings v. State, 583 So.2d 316, 323 n. 3 (Fla. 1991); See Kennedy v. Singletary, 599 So. 2d 991, 992 (Fla. 1992). Accordingly, this claim should be denied as procedurally barred.

Moreover, this Court has repeatedly rejected the argument that the aggravating factors are automatic. <u>Clark v. State</u>, 443 So.2d 973, 978 (Fla. 1983); <u>Blanco v. State</u>, 706 So.2d 7 (Fla. 1997), concurring opinion of J. Wells compiling the case law; <u>Smith v. Dugger</u>, 565 So.2d 1293, 1297 (Fla. 1998). In <u>Bolender v. Dugger</u>, 564 So.2d 1057, 1059 (Fla. 1990), this Court refused to permit

raising ineffectiveness of counsel when the issue was procedurally barred because the death sentence was "fully considered" on direct appeal.

Atwater's reliance on Stringer v. Black, 112 S. Ct. 1130 (1992), is misplaced. Stringer, which was decided after Atwater's trial in 1990, did not announce a change in law and was consistent with this Court's analysis on direct appeals. Kennedy v. Singletary, 599 So. 2d 991, 992 (Fla. 1992). This Court in Kennedy concluded that Stringer required only that the Court conduct harmless error analysis on any sentence for which an invalid aggravating factor was considered. In Mills v. Singletary, 606 So.2d 622, 623 (Fla. 1992), this Court specifically found that <u>Stringer</u> was not to be retroactively applied. In Johnson v. Singletary, 612 So. 2d 575 (Fla. 1993), this Court held that the issue of invalidity of an aggravating factor was procedurally barred for postconviction relief for lack of contemporaneous objection. Accord, Sims v. Singletary, 622 So. 2d 980 (Fla. 1993).

The issue of whether Atwater's sentencing "'genuinely narrow[ed] the class of persons eligible for the death penalty, 'Zant v. Stephens, 462 U.S. 862, 876 (1983)," is an issue for appeal and procedurally barred for postconviction relief. Marek v. Singletary, 626 So.2d 160, 162 (Fla. 1993). Similarly, the Maynard v. Cartwright, 486 U.S. 356, 362 (1988), claim urged by Atwater, is barred for postconviction relief. Porter v. State, 653 So.2d 374, 380 (Fla. 1995); Bryan v. Dugger, 641 So.2d 61, 65 (Fla. 1994).

Similarly, this Court has rejected the holding in Engberg v. Meyer, 820 P. 2d 70 (Wyo. 1991). See Blanco v. State, supra.

To the extent this issue is based on case law postdating Atwater's trial, counsel is not ineffective for failing to be clairvoyant, Bottoson v. Singletary, 685 So.2d 1302 (Fla. 1997), and where the issue is based on case law predating Atwater's trial, counsel is not ineffective for failure to make futile objections.

Magill v. State, 457 So.2d 1367, 1370 (Fla. 1984); Maxwell v. Wainwright, 490 So.2d 927, 932 (Fla. 1986). As relief is not warranted on any of the underlying claims, Atwater has failed to establish either deficient performance or prejudice. Accordingly, this claim was properly denied.

ISSUE XV

WHETHER ATWATER'S EIGHTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS WERE VIOLATED BY THE SENTENCING COURT'S REFUSAL TO FIND AND WEIGH THE MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES SET OUT IN THE RECORD.

Once again appellant is raising a claim that could have been, should have been and, in fact, was raised on direct appeal. On direct appeal, this Court rejected the claim as follows:

Finally, we reject Atwater's claim that the sentencing order did not clearly state which nonstatutory mitigating factors the judge found or what weight he gave them. With respect to nonstatutory mitigating factors, the sentencing order states:

In considering any other aspect Defendant's character or record and any other circumstances in the evidence which proffered as a mitigating circumstance, the Court has carefully considered the following: whether the Defendant was under the influence of mental or emotional distress (even if not "extreme"); whether the Defendant's capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements was law impaired (even if "substantially" impaired) by lack of intelligence, personality disorder, consumption of alcohol or a perception that his aunt was being treated abusively by the victim. The Court additionally considered and weighed the Defendant's family background and his lack of a close family relationship. All of these factors were presented to the jury during the penalty phase of the proceedings in case, as well as now being considered and weighed by the Court.

While the judge did not indicate the extent to which each factor existed, it is evident that he found nonstatutory mitigation

to exist and that he carefully weighed it in his deliberations.

Atwater v. State, 626 So.2d at 1329-1330.

Accordingly, this claim should be denied as procedurally barred. Hall v. State, 1999 WL 462617, 24 Fla. L. Weekly S350 (Fla. 1999)(The trial court correctly found claim to be procedurally barred in that it was raised and addressed by Court on direct appeal.)

Moreover, <u>Campbell v. State</u>, 571 So.2d 416 (Fla. 1990) did not become final until after Atwater was sentenced.³ This Court has held that <u>Campbell</u> is not to be applied retroactively. <u>Grossman v. Dugger</u>, 708 So.2d 249, 253 (Fla. 1997); <u>Turner v. Dugger</u>, 614 So.2d 1075, 1079 (Fla. 1992).

Based on the foregoing, the state urges this court to deny the claim as procedurally barred.

³ Trial commenced on May 1 - 4, 1990, the sentencing phase was on May 16 - 17, 1990 and sentencing was held on June 25, 1990. This Court's opinion in <u>Campbell</u> issued on June 14, 1990 and rehearing was denied on December 13, 1990. Atwater's sentencing on June 25, 1990, preceded the <u>Campbell</u> opinion becoming final, after rehearing.

ISSUE XVI

WHETHER FLORIDA'S CAPITAL SENTENCING STATUTE IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL ON ITS FACE AND AS APPLIED IN THIS CASE BECAUSE IT FAILS TO PREVENT THE ARBITRARY AND CAPRICIOUS IMPOSITION OF THE DEATH PENALTY, AND IT VIOLATES THE CONSTITUTIONAL GUARANTEES OF DUE PROCESS AND PROHIBITING CRUEL AND UNUSUAL PUNISHMENT.

Atwater's next claim, a challenge to the facial validity of the death penalty statute, clearly could have been raised on direct appeal. It must be denied as procedurally barred. <u>Jennings v. State</u> 583 So.2d 316, 322 (Fla. 1991) In addition, claims relating to jury instructions are consistently rejected in collateral proceedings as they should be raised both at trial and on direct appeal. See, <u>Johnston v. Dugger</u>, 583 So.2d 657, 662-663, n. 2 (Fla. 1991); <u>Gorham v. State</u>, 521 So.2d 1067, 1070 (Fla. 1988) ("Because a claim of error regarding the instructions given by the trial court should have been raised on direct appeal, the issue is not cognizable through collateral attack"). No relief is warranted.

Moreover, this claim has consistently been rejected on the merits. Blanco v. State, 706 So.2d 7 (Fla. 1997); Williamson v. State, 681 So.2d 688, 698 (Fla. 1996); Thompson v. State, 619 So.2d 261, 267 (Fla. 1993); Thompson v. State, 553 So.2d 153 (Fla. 1989).

Atwater adds to this issue that electrocution is cruel and unusual punishment. This claim is also barred as a claim that could have been raised on direct appeal. This Court has also disagreed with this contention. Pooler v. State, 704 So.2d 1375

(Fla. 1997); Jones v. State, 701 So.2d 76 (Fla. 1977). Furthermore, this claim is waived because Atwater only gets execution by electrocution, if he elects it over lethal injection. See, Stewart v. LaGrand, 526 U.S. 115 (1999)(Inmate sentenced to death waived claim that execution by lethal gas violated Eighth Amendment's prohibition of cruel and unusual punishment by choosing to be executed by lethal gas rather than lethal injection, where state law provided inmates with choice of execution by lethal gas or lethal injection, and made lethal injection the default form of execution.)

ISSUE XVII

WHETHER ATWATER WAS DENIED THE EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL AT THE PRE-TRIAL PHASE OF HIS TRIAL, IN VIOLATION OF THE SIXTH, EIGHTH, AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS. WHETHER TRIAL COUNSEL WAS RENDERED INEFFECTIVE BY ACTIONS OF THE PROSECUTION AND THE TRIAL COURT.

This claim is essentially a repetition of Issues III and IX in which Atwater claims he was not present at pretrial hearings and did not meet with defense counsel prior to depositions. For the foregoing reasons, this claim was correctly denied.

Atwater adds to this claim a contention that trial counsel "did not allow for any meaningful relationships to exist between counsel and their client." Initial Brief of Appellant, pgs.91-92. The U.S. Supreme Court has rejected that a defendant is entitled to any "meaningful relationship" with counsel. Morris v. Slappy, 103 S. Ct. 1610 (1983).

As Atwater has not demonstrated any new claim of ineffectiveness of counsel in this claim, it was correctly denied.

ISSUE XVIII

WHETHER MR. ATWATER'S TRIAL COURT PROCEEDINGS WERE FRAUGHT WITH PROCEDURAL AND SUBSTANTIVE ERRORS WHICH CANNOT BE HARMLESS WHEN VIEWED AS A WHOLE SINCE THE COMBINATION OF ERRORS DEPRIVED HIM OF THE FUNDAMENTALLY FAIR TRIAL GUARANTEED UNDER THE SIXTH, EIGHTH, AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS.

Atwater's next claim asserts that the combined effect of all alleged errors in this case warrants a new trial and/or penalty phase. This cumulative error claim is contingent upon Atwater's demonstrating error in at least two of the other claims presented in his motion. For the reasons previously discussed, he has not done so. Thus, the claim must be rejected because none of the allegations demonstrate any error, individually or collectively. Although this may be a legitimate claim on the facts of a particular case, such facts are not present herein. No relief is warranted. Melendez v. State, 718 So.2d 746, 749 (Fla. 1998) (where claims were either meritless or procedurally barred, there was no cumulative effect to consider) and Johnson v. Singletary, 695 So.2d 263, 267 (Fla. 1996) (no cumulative error where all issues which were not barred were meritless.)

ISSUE XIX

WHETHER MR. ATWATER WAS DEPRIVED OF HIS RIGHT TO AN INDIVIDUALIZED SENTENCING IN VIOLATION OF HIS SIXTH, EIGHTH, AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS WHEN THE COURT ALLEGEDLY SUBMITTED TO THE JURY DURING DELIBERATIONS A COPY OF A DEATH PENALTY SENTENCING OUTLINE DESIGNED AS A JUDICIAL TOOL TO ASSIST THE COURTS IN CONDUCTING A PENALTY PHASE TRIAL.

Atwater's next claim is that the court submitted to the jury during deliberations a copy of Judge Schaeffer's death penalty sentencing outline. This claim is similarly procedurally barred as an issue that is appropriate for appellate review.

Moreover, Atwater admits that there is no evidence to support the claim and cites to no authority for the proposition that it would be reversible error to do so. Speculation is insufficient to warrant postconviction relief. Zeigler v. State, 654 So.2d 1162, 1164 (Fla. 1995); Rivera v. Dugger, 629 So.2d 105, 107 (Fla. 1993); State v. Shearer, 628 So.2d 1102, 1103 (Fla. 1993).

Although this claim is baseless in fact and law, the state urges this Court to deny this claim as procedurally barred.

ISSUE XX

WHETHER MR. ATWATER WAS DENIED THE EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL PRETRIAL AND AT THE GUILT/INNOCENCE PHASE OF HIS TRIAL IN VIOLATION OF THE SIXTH, EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS WHEN THE DEFENSE ATTORNEY FAILED TO OBJECT TO THE INTRODUCTION OF ALLEGEDLY GRUESOME AND SHOCKING AUTOPSY PHOTOGRAPHS.

Atwater next asserts that the trial court erred in admitting of photographic evidence. He contends that the photographs were unduly prejudicial and that legitimate issue existed as to the victim's manner of death. Like many of the foregoing claims, this claim is procedurally barred as a direct appeal issue. Mendyk v. State, 592 So.2d 1076 (Fla. 1992)(Defendant was procedurally barred in postconviction proceeding from raising claim that trial court should not have admitted color photographs of murder victim; claim should have been raised on direct appeal.)

In order to circumvent this procedural bar, appellant asserts that counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the admission of the photographs below. Allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel cannot be used to circumvent the rule that postconviction proceedings cannot serve as a second appeal. <u>Teffeteller v. Dugger</u>, 1999 WL 395697, 24 Fla. L. Weekly S296, (Fla. 1999)

Finally, even if this claim was properly before the Court it is without merit. Atwater has not shown that an objection to the photographs would have resulted in their being excluded from evidence. Counsel is not ineffective for failure to make a meritless objection. Parker v. State, 611 So.2d 1224 (Fla.

1992)(counsel not ineffective for abandoning objection to photograph; the failure to raise a nonmeritorious issue is not ineffectiveness.)

Subject to relevancy, introduction of photographic evidence is largely discretionary with the trial court. Preston v. State, 607 So.2d 404, 410 (Fla. 1992). Atwater's conclusion that the photographs were "inflammatory, cumulative and prejudicial" and that "there existed no legitimate issue as to the victim's manner of death or identity" is not supported by the record. The photographs taken at the scene were relevant to the victim's manner of death and identity. The photographs taken at the scene were also used as part of the State's proof that a robbery occurred. Additionally, photographs of this victim at the medical examiner's office were used to establish aggravating factor heinous, atrocious and cruel. See <u>Atwater v. State</u>, 626 So.2d 1325, 1329 (Fla. 1993). As the photographs were not cumulative but necessary to show the circumstances of the murder and robbery and the great number of stab wounds and that the victim was beaten prior to the stabbing, appellant has not demonstrated that the court abused its discretion in admitting the photographic evidence, nor that defense counsel had any good faith objection to make on their introduction.

This claim should be denied as procedurally barred.

ISSUE XXI

WHETHER ATWATER IS INNOCENT OF FIRST DEGREE MURDER AND SECOND DEGREE MURDER AND WAS DENIED ADVERSARIAL TESTING DUE TO INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

Atwater reraises the issue that defense counsel argued for second degree murder without consulting with him or getting his consent, which is the same claim raised in Issue I and answered therein.

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